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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

__________________________________________       

BARBARA ROBINSON, representative of ) 

the estate of Scott Macomber   )  

 Plaintiff,     ) Docket no. 19-CV-10759  

       ) 

v.       ) 

       ) COMPLAINT  

JOSHUA CARREIRO, SHANE GALUS, and )  

JOSEPH FERREIRA      )      

  Defendants.    )    

       ) 

       ) 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. This is civil rights action, brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, brought by 

Barbara Robinson, as personal representative for the estate of Scott Macomber. 

Ms. Robinson is the mother of Mr. Macomber’s son, who was fourteen at the time 

of his father’s death. On May 16, 2016 the defendant officers entered Mr. 

Macomber’s home, without a search warrant or consent, to arrest his cousin on 

an outstanding warrant for unpaid fines related to a misdemeanor charge. On 

the day that he died, Mr. Macomber was in his own home peacefully resting on 

his day off from work, when police unexpectedly and aggressively entered. He 

had not committed a crime, was not a suspect in any crime, was not the target of 

any warrant, and had done absolutely nothing wrong. Rather than de-escalate 

the situation, when the young woman they were seeking to arrest did not 

immediately appear, the defendant officers dramatically escalated their behavior 

- beating, restraining, and repeatedly tasing Mr. Macomber, who went into 

cardiac arrest and, as a result, died later that day.  
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2. Plaintiff alleges that the Defendant police officers used excessive force against 

Mr. Macomber in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution and seeks damages for the violation of his 

constitutional rights.  

3. Plaintiff also alleges that the willful, wanton and/or reckless actions of the 

defendant police officers caused his death in violation of Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 

229 § 2.  

JURISDICTION 

4. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C §1983 and §1988 and the Fourth 

and Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Jurisdiction is 

based upon 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, and on the pendent jurisdiction of this 

court to entertain related claims arising under state law.  

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Barbara Robinson was the partner of Scott Macomber, Sr., and the 

mother of their son. On December 1, 2017, she was appointed as representative 

of his estate. At all times relevant to this action, Mr. Macomber and Ms. 

Robinson resided in Fall River, Massachusetts.  

6. Defendant Officer Carreiro is a police officer for the Fall River Police. 

Department and is sued in his individual capacity for actions taken under the 

color of law.  

7. Defendant Officer Ferreia is a police officer for the Fall River Police Department 

and is sued in his individual capacity for actions taken under the color of law.  
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8. Defendant Officer Galus is a police officer for the Fall River Police Department 

and is sued in his individual capacity for actions taken under the color of law.  

FACTS 

9. In May of 2016, Scott Macomber was living with his partner, Barbara Robinson, 

and their 14-year-old son, Scott Macomber Jr., in an apartment in Fall River.  

10. Mr. Macomber was working at Fall River Country Club as a cook.   

11. The couple had permitted Mr. Macomber’s cousin, Lisa McNally, who was in the 

process of attempting to end a relationship with her former boyfriend, to stay 

with them while she got herself on her feet.  

12. Another young woman, Jennifer Bernardini, and her two-year-old daughter, 

were also residing with Ms. Robinson and Mr. Macomber at their residence.  

13. On May 16, 2016, Mr. Macomber was at his apartment, along with Ms. 

Robinson, Ms. McNally, Ms. Bernardini and Ms. Bernardini’s two-year-old child.  

14. In the early afternoon, while Mr. McComber was asleep in his bedroom, Ms. 

McNally’s former boyfriend Frederick Garfield knocked on Mr. McComber’s front 

door.  

15. Ms. McNally did not answer the door. However, after receiving a text from Mr. 

Garfield asking her to come outside to see her son, she agreed and exited the 

home. 

16. Unbeknownst to Ms. McNally (or anyone in the apartment), earlier that day Mr. 

Garfield had gone to the Fall River Police department, reported that he knew 

Ms. McNally had warrants, and told the police where she was staying.  
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17. Additionally, Mr. Garfield offered to lure his ex-girlfriend out of the apartment 

so that she could be arrested. 

18. Defendant Officer Carreiro took Mr. Garfield’s plan and put it into action. 

Officer Carreiro described his plan to the dispatcher on duty and requested that 

the two other Defendant officers stand by.  

19. Unaware she was being tricked by her ex-boyfriend, and completely uninformed 

of any police involvement, Ms. McNally went outside, and then shortly 

thereafter came running back inside, stating, “Don’t let him get me.”  

20. Once Ms. McNally entered the home, Ms. Bernardini went to hold the door shut.  

21. Ms. Robinson heard the commotion and went to the door. Upon realizing that it 

was in fact a police officer trying to force the door open, Ms. Robinson asked Ms. 

Bernardini to move aside.  

22. Defendant Carreiro immediately entered the home and pinned Ms. Bernardini to 

the wall.  

23. Defendant Carriero failed to give any explanation for the sudden police presence 

in the home, but instead demanded to know where Ms. McNally was.  

24. Defendant Carriero then proceeded to the closed bedroom door of Ms. Robinson’s 

son and began kicking it.  

25. Mr. McComber, who was sleeping in the adjacent bedroom, awoke from the 

commotion and emerged while Detective Carriero was still pounding on his son’s 

closed bedroom door.  
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26. Mr. McComber asked Detective Carriero what was going on and opened his son’s 

bedroom door by unlatching the lock on the outside of the door.  

27. Detective Carriero then became physically and verbally aggressive towards Mr. 

Macomber and pushed him into his son’s bedroom. 

28. Ms. Robinson, realizing that the Detective was looking for Ms. McNally, 

gestured towards the bathroom where Ms. McNally had gone.  

29. Defendant Carriero then located Ms. McNally and continued to escalate the 

situation by being aggressively physical with her.  

30. Defendants Galus and Ferreira were, by this point, also in the apartment.  

31. Mr. McComber, concerned by the Defendants conduct, began to video the 

incident with his phone.  

32. Defendant Carreiro became enraged with Mr. Macomber and physically attacked 

him, with the assistance of Defendant Ferreira and Defendant Galus.  

33. The Defendant officers knocked Mr. Macomber on to a mattress on the floor, 

shoved his head against a wall, pinned his head in the space between the wall 

and the mattress, got on top of him, and began hitting him.  

34. Officer Galus then approached and tased Mr. Macomber in the back.  

35. Mr. Macomber was eventually tased three times, although in a subsequent 

investigation the officers reported discharging the taser only twice.  

36. As the officers were on top of him, Mr. Macomber repeatedly said that he was 

not resisting.  

37.  Mr. Macomber also repeatedly said that he could not breath.  
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38. The officers handcuffed him, stood him up, walked him outside to the cruiser, 

and put him in the back seat. Officer Carreiro claimed, in a subsequent 

investigation, that he was arresting Mr. Macomber for “interfering with a police 

investigation.”  

39. While in the cruiser, Mr. Macomber began to visibly aspirate and foam from his 

mouth. Officers then pulled him out of the cruiser.  

40. Eventually they put him on a stretcher and was taken away in an ambulance.  

41. He was pronounced dead at the hospital later that afternoon.  

42.  Mr. Macomber suffered from cardiac dysrhythmia and cardiac arrest as well as 

blunt impact injuries and hemorrhages to his head, his torso, and extremities.  

43. Defendants proximately caused Scott Macomber to experience conscious pain 

and suffering, terror, and the anguish of experiencing his last moments of life in 

severe physical pain.  

44. His next of kin, including his son who was just fourteen and had special needs, 

suffered permanent loss of his services, protection, care, assistance, society, 

companionship, counsel, advice and reasonably expected income.  

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983  

BY ALL INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 

 

45. The above paragraphs are incorporated herein. 

46. By the actions described in the above paragraphs, Defendants, acting under 

color of law, deprived Plaintiff of his right to be free from the use of excessive 
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force, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and his Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendment rights as guaranteed by the United States Constitution. 

COUNT II 

VIOLATION OF MGL ch. 229 §2 (WRONGFUL DEATH) BY DEFENDANTS 

JOSHUA CARREIRO, SHANE GALUS AND 

JOSEPH FERREIRA 

 

47. The above paragraphs are incorporated herein. 

48. Defendants Carreiro, Galus, and Ferreira caused McComber’s death by willful, 

wanton or reckless acts.  

49. Mr. McComber’s next of kin are entitled to compensation for the loss of care, 

assistance, comfort, guidance, protection, society, advice, services, and 

reasonably expected income.  

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff requests that this Court award: 

 

1. Compensatory damages against all Defendants jointly and severally; 

2. Punitive damages against all Defendants; 

3. The costs of this action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees; and, 

4. Such other and further relief, as this Court may deem necessary and 

appropriate. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

 A jury trial is hereby demanded. 

 

 DATED: 4-18-2019  

 

       

 

 

 

 

Case 1:19-cv-10759-NMG   Document 1   Filed 04/18/19   Page 7 of 8



 

 8 

      Respectfully Submitted, 

Plaintiff BARBARA ROBINSON 

representative of the estate of Scott 

Macomber 

 

       /s/Jessica D. Hedges  

       Jessica D. Hedges 

       BBO No. 645847 

       Forest O’Neill-Greenberg 

BBO No. 674760 

       Hedges & Tumposky, LLP  

       50 Congress Street, Suite 600  

       Boston, MA 02109 

       T) (617) 722-8220    
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